Quantum emitters in 2D materials: Emitter engineering, photophysics, and integration in photonic nanostructures ©

Cite as: Appl. Phys. Rev. **9**, 011306 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0072091 Submitted: 19 September 2021 • Accepted: 07 December 2021 • Published Online: 19 January 2022

២ Mehran Kianinia, ២ Zai-Quan Xu, Milos Toth, et al.

COLLECTIONS

This paper was selected as Featured



ARTICLES YOU MAY BE INTERESTED IN

Prospects and challenges of quantum emitters in 2D materials Applied Physics Letters **118**, 240502 (2021); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0054116

Material platforms for defect qubits and single-photon emitters Applied Physics Reviews 7, 031308 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0006075

Atomistic defects as single-photon emitters in atomically thin MoS₂ Applied Physics Letters **117**, 070501 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0018557





Appl. Phys. Rev. 9, 011306 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0072091 © 2022 Author(s).

View Online

Export Citation

Quantum emitters in 2D materials: Emitter engineering, photophysics, and integration in photonic nanostructures **B**

Cite as: Appl. Phys. Rev. **9**, 011306 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0072091 Submitted: 19 September 2021 · Accepted: 7 December 2021 · Published Online: 19 January 2022

Mehran Kianinia,^{1,2} D Zai-Quan Xu,^{1,2} D Milos Toth,^{1,2,a)} and Igor Aharonovich^{1,2,a)}

AFFILIATIONS

¹School of Mathematical and Physical Sciences, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, New South Wales 2007, Australia
 ²ARC Centre of Excellence for Transformative Meta-Optical Systems, Faculty of Science, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, New South Wales 2007, Australia

^{a)}Authors to whom correspondence should be addressed: milos.toth@uts.edu.au and lgor.aharonovich@uts.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Quantum emitters have become a vital tool for both fundamental science and emerging technologies. In recent years, the focus in the field has shifted to exploration and identification of new quantum systems enabled by the emerging library of atomically thin, two dimensional materials. In this review, we highlight the current state of the art in engineering of quantum emitters in 2D systems, with an emphasis on transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDCs) and hexagonal boron nitride. We start by reviewing progress in TMDCs, with focus on emitter engineering, ability to tune their spectral properties, and observation of interlayer excitons. We then discuss emitters in hBN and focus on emitters' origin, engineering, and emerging phenomena—spanning super-resolution imaging and optical spin readout. We summarize by discussing practical advances of integration of emitters in 2D hosts with plasmonic and dielectric photonic cavities, underpinned by quantum light–matter interactions. We conclude by outlining pathways for practical on-chip quantum photonics applications and highlight challenges and opportunities within this field of research.

Published under an exclusive license by AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0072091

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. QUANTUM EMITTERS IN TMDCS	2
A. Engineering of quantum emitters in TMDCs	2
B. Interlayer excitons (IEs)	4
III. QUANTUM EMITTERS IN hBN	5
A. Emitter engineering	5
B. Spin defects in hBN	5
C. Photophysics of hBN emitters	7
IV. LIGHT-MATTER INTERACTIONS	8
A. Integration of emitters with photonic structures.	8
B. Purcell enhancement: Plasmonic vs dielectric	
cavities	9
C. Hybrid vs monolithic integration methods	10
V. CONCLUSIONS	11

I. INTRODUCTION

Quantum technologies and quantum information science are becoming a mature research field with numerous commercial applications.^{1,2} The interest in quantum technologies stems from the

ever-growing promise of devices that are not possible via traditional miniaturization of microelectronic components and acceleration of performance. The most common example is quantum key distribution as a means to absolute secure communication, protected by the laws of quantum physics.³ However, more advanced applications, including quantum optical neural networks, remote quantum sensing, and quantum bio-imaging, have also been proposed and are garnering increasing attention. On the fundamental side, photon-mediated interactions at a single photon level are also intriguing and may eventually lead to new quantum computation and quantum simulation protocols.

Development of quantum infrastructure and, more specifically, physical qubits, has been pursued globally for almost half a century. It is therefore not surprising that some systems—such as superconducting qubits and trapped ions—reached maturity and currently underpin a growing quantum industry.^{4,5} Looking ahead, scalable connectivity of quantum nodes by photons is now recognized as a promising next step. In this context, integrated quantum photonics is an emerging field that aims to interface stationary qubits, which can store quantum information and have long coherence times, with flying qubits, such as photons.

A key building block of a quantum photonic network is a single photon source—a source that emits only one photon per excitation cycle. Over the last decade, the field of solid-state sources has exploded, and there are presently dozens of systems with their individual advantages and limitations. In the context of this review, most quantum emitters can be broadly classified into two categories: (1) excitonic emitters in which the quantum emission occurs through a nearbandgap transition and (2) defect-based emitters which have deep states and behave as "artificial atoms" in foreign hosts. The former include quantum dots (QDs), emitters in carbon nanotubes (CNTs), and single molecules. On the other hand, the defects are typically impurities in wide bandgap semiconductors. The most common examples include color centers in diamond, silicon carbide, and hexagonal boron nitride.

Until approximately five years ago, this field of research was focused predominantly on quantum emitter in 3D solid state hosts,⁶ and it is fair to say that it was approaching saturation-in part due to a lack of novel experiments and in part due to fundamental physical and technological limitations. However, the emergence of the popularity of two dimensional (2D) materials has led to the nearly simultaneous discovery of quantum emitters in a range of 2D hosts, particularly transition metal dichalcogenides and hexagonal boron nitride. This sparked renewed interest in the field of solid-state quantum systems, and as a result, explorations of quantum emitters in 2D hosts⁷ and their integration in nanophotonic devices is constantly and rapidly evolving. In this review, we summarize the current state of quantum emitters in 2D materials with a focus on engineering of these systems, explorations of unique photophysical phenomena, and the latest demonstrations of quantum light-matter interaction that have been enabled by these materials.

II. QUANTUM EMITTERS IN TMDCS

The discovery of graphene⁸ has sparked research in other groups of two dimensional materials,⁹ such as transition metal dichalcogenides (TMDCs) and oxides.^{10–13} TMDCs have the form MX_2 (M = transition metal atom and X = chalcogen atom), whereby the M

and X atoms are covalently bonded to form an X-M-X sandwich structure. These materials are promising for optoelectronics due to their unique optical properties and have been incorporated in transistors, photodetectors, light emitting devices, and solar cells.

The discovery of single photon emitters (SPEs) in TMDCs was reported concurrently in four papers in 2015.14-18 Specifically, photoluminescence (PL) emissions at energies 20-100 meV below the intrinsic excitonic emission were observed from monolayer WSe2 at cryogenic temperature. The emissions exhibit antibunching, linear polarization, narrow linewidths (~0.1 to 0.7 meV), and lifetimes on the order of 1 ns. Subsequent research has been focused predominantly on two TMDCs-WSe2¹⁴⁻¹⁷ and MoS2¹⁹-although emitters in WS2,²⁰ GaSe,²¹ and MoSe₂²² have also been reported. The structural origins of these QD-like emitters are a topic of debate. Two theories have been put forward: (a) excitons localized by strain or (b) a defect-to-bound transition, with the defect being a vacancy. The role of strain has been investigated primarily using WSe₂^{18,23–27} [Fig. 1(a)], a vacancy alternative has been discussed mainly in the context of MoS2,19,28 and an interplay between strain and defects has been proposed in both experimental and theoretical studies.²

A. Engineering of quantum emitters in TMDCs

The role of strain was originally proposed by Kumar *et al.* and Tonndorf *et al.*^{18,23,27,30} They observed SPEs at edges of WSe₂ flakes and at the locations of pillars located underneath WSe₂. They also generated SPEs using an AFM tip that was used to scratch WSe₂ monolayers.¹⁸

Periodic strain fields can be used to create SPE arrays, which are appealing for scalability and applications. Two approaches have been demonstrated with nanopatterned substrates. In the first, an array of nanopillars is used to induce strain and generate an ordered array of SPEs in a TMDC overlayer.²⁰ Alternatively, the substrate contains an array of indents that generates the strain field, as is illustrated in Fig. 1(a).²² Recent results also suggested that electron irradiation of WSe₂ monolayers on top of predefined pillar sites also aids in deterministic emitter creation. Interestingly, these experiments also suggested that



FIG. 1. Engineering of SPEs in TMDCs by strain and ion irradiation. (a) Array of indents in a substrate used to confine excitons and thus generate an array of SPEs in monolayer MoSe₂. Reproduced with permission from Yu *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 2376 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b) Nanogaps in nanorods used to confine excitons in WSe₂. (c) The nanogap size affects the elongation direction of the WSe₂ and the polarization of non-classic light emitted by the trapped excitons. Reproduced with permission from So *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 1546 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d) Defect engineering in MoS₂ by He+ ion irradiation (the MoS₂ was subsequently capped with hBN to stabilize SPEs). Reproduced with permission from Klein *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **10**(1), 2755 (2019). Copyright 2019 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license.

the emitters are optically active up to 150 K, a promising route to operation at liquid nitrogen temperature. 31

Strain gradients can be used to control not only the emitter locations, but also the emission polarization.³² This is illustrated in Figs. 1(b) and 1(c) where a gap in a nanorod generates a strain gradient that localizes excitons in a WSe₂ overlayer, and the gap size determines the shape of the strain field and the polarization orientation of the linearly polarized SPE.²⁶ Similarly, the emission energy can also be tuned by strain, as has been demonstrated using a piezoelectric substrate, which is appealing for on-chip applications of SPEs.³² Alternatively, stark tuning was also used to tune the emission linewidths of quantum emitters in TMDCs.³³

A notable alternative to strain for engineering of SPEs in TMDCs is ion irradiation using a focused helium ion beam. This approach has been used to particularly good effect instead of MoS_2 [Fig. 1(d)],¹⁹ where post-irradiation capping of the MoS_2 with hBN flakes has been shown to stabilize the fabricated SPEs and produce arrays.³⁴ Nevertheless, spectral diffusion of these SPEs is significant, likely due to localized charging of defects generated by the ion beam. Indeed, ion irradiation generates a range of defect species, some of which are optically active, whilst others do not luminesce, but modify the local dielectric environment and can modulate emissions from SPEs. The level of complexity associated with restructuring of materials by ion beams is substantial, and the atomic structure of SPEs generated in MoS_2 is a topic of debate. Several defects have been suggested or

observed in post-irradiated MoS₂—including Mo vacancies, S vacancies and defect complexes that include O impurities—but a conclusive correlation between SPE emissions and atomic structure remains to be done.

The optical properties of quantum emitters in TMDCs are still being investigated. Recently, infrared emissions (in the telecom O and C bands, \sim 1300 and \sim 1550 nm, respectively) have been reported from strained MoTe₂.³⁵ The purity and brightness of the emitters are not optimized, but evidence of telecom emissions from TMDCs is promising for future integration with silicon photonics. Similarly, a number of studies have reported cascade emission^{31,36} from localized emitters in WSe₂. These results are important not only to unambiguously prove the presence of bi-excitons, but also for a demonstration of entangled photon pairs from these materials.

The advantages of quantum emitters in TMDCs are exemplified by studies of emission modulation and electrical excitation.³⁷ In a recent work, strain engineering and electrical excitation were combined. Emitters were created deterministically in a graphene–WSe₂–hBN heterostructure using an atomic force microscope (AFM), and the strainactivated emitters were excited electrically [Fig. 2(a)].³⁸ This device geometry is unique to 2D systems and different from conventional lateral junction-based devices. In a similar device, gate-switchable quantum emitters were also realized with defects in MoS₂.³⁹

To controllably modulate emitters in TMDCs, piezo elements can be employed. Figure 2(b) shows an example of a piezoelectric



FIG. 2. Combined strain-and-electrical control of quantum emitters in TMDCs. (a). Deterministic generation of quantum emitters in WSe₂ by AFM indentation and subsequent electrical excitation of the device. Graphene serves as a top electrode, as is illustrated in the top-right panel. Reproduced with permission from So *et al.*, Sci. Adv. 7(43), eabj3176 (2021). Copyright 2021 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. (b) SEM image of a piezoelectric microcantilever. The inset shows a close-up of nanopyramid arrays that generate strain-induced quantum emitters in WSe₂. (c) PL spectra vs bias from WSe₂ positioned on top of the microactuator. Reproduced with permission from Kim *et al.*, Nano Lett. **19**, 7534 (2019). Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

microactuator with integrated nanopyramid arrays.⁴⁰ The actuator consists of two cantilevers connected by a thin tether, and the nanopyramid arrays are used to induce strain in WSe₂. Under voltage, the microcantilever modulates the amount of strain and hence the emission energy of strain-localized emitters in WSe₂. The emission energy varies in the range of 1 to 3 meV, which is in principle sufficient to bring two distinct emitters into resonance.

B. Interlayer excitons (IEs)

Layered 2D heterostructures⁴¹ have emerged as a promising platform for engineering of quantum emitters^{12,42} based on interlayer excitons (IEs)^{43–45} that form at interfaces between 2D materials. IEs consist of electron-hole pairs donated by adjacent monolayers.

Different combinations of 2D materials and layer stacking angles provide new degrees of freedom and a plethora of new systems for studies of quantum emitters. This is exemplified by monolayer TMDCs which emit in the visible range and can be combined to generate IEs that emit in the infrared spectral range. Karni *et al.* reported a PL emission at ~1 eV from MoS₂/WSe₂ heterobilayers, as shown in Fig. 3(a).⁴⁶ The recombination energy of these IEs can be tuned by up to 80 meV using an out-of-plane electric field. The tunability together with the temperature-dependence of the PL intensity indicate the IE origin of the emission.

IEs can be confined using strain,⁴⁷ electric fields,⁴⁸ and Moiré⁴⁹ potentials. Montblanch *et al.* localized IEs in WS₂/WSe₂ heterobilayers using a pillar array, as is shown in Fig. 3(b). Emissions from the confined IEs are more intense, vary with applied magnetic fields, saturate with excitation power and have lifetimes substantially shorter than the delocalized IE counterparts—all due to confinement by the strain field.⁴⁷ IEs can be manipulated further by pressure engineering, which can be used to alter TMDC band structures, as has been demonstrated for WSe₂–MoSe₂ heterostructures.⁵⁰

Site-selective trapping of IEs has also been achieved using electric fields. Figure 3(c) shows a potential well generated in an MoSe₂–WSe₂ heterostructure by a bias applied to a top-electrode that is made from few-layer graphene and contains a 30 nm hole. The resulting highly



FIG. 3. Interlayer excitons and moiré excitons in TMDCs. (a) Band alignment in a MoS₂/WSe₂ heterostructure. The arrows show charge transfer processes that lead to the formation of interlayer excitons. Reproduced with permission from Karni et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 247402 (2019). Copyright 2019 American Physical Society. (b) WS₂/WSe₂ heterostructure atop a SiO₂ pillar array. L1-L5 are representative locations discussed in, and Reproduced with permission from Montblanch et al., Commun. Phys. 4, 119 (2021). Copyright 2021 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. (c) Trapping of interlayer excitons in a potential well generated by a highly localized electric field applied to a MoSe2-WSe2 heterostructure. Reproduced with permission from Shanks et al., Nano Lett. 21, 5641 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d) Moiré superlattice formed in a WSe₂/ MoSe₂ heterobilayer with a twist angle of 5°. Scale bar, 2 nm. Reproduced with permission from Brotons-Gisbert et al., Nat. Mater. 19, 630 (2020). Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group.

localized electric field can confine interlayer excitons, whilst IEs under the graphene sheet are suppressed.^{48,51} Dipolar interactions between localized IEs were studied using a dynamic electric field by Li *et al.*⁵² these can induce effective photon–photon interactions and repulsive dipolar interactions can potentially lead to exotic many-body states such as self-assembled dipolar crystals with a spin-valley degree of freedom.⁵³

More intriguingly, moiré potentials in TMDs can be used to manipulate their electronic and optical properties. Moiré potentials [Fig. 3(d)]⁵⁴ are generated in layered materials by periodic variations in lattice mismatch and rotation angle between adjacent monolayers.⁵⁵ Moiré potentials give rise to moiré-trapped IEs,⁵⁴ including valley excitons⁵⁶ and quantum emitters. As has been demonstrated by Baek *et al.*, moiré-trapped IEs from a MoSe₂/WSe₂ heterobilayer emit at a number of energies, ranging from 1.38 to 1.40 eV; all of these emissions are circularly polarized and split upon application of a magnetic field via the Zeeman effect. These IEs are also tunable by a DC electric field and exhibit photon antibunching with a lifetime of ~12ns.⁴⁹ In short, these recent works illustrate that moiré superlattices provide a new platform for exploring quantum phenomena in 2D heterostructures, with exciting potential applications in nanophotonics and quantum information processing.

The above-mentioned works have made substantial progress in engineering of SPEs in TMDC monolayers and heterostructures, and provide deep insights into the origins of the SPEs and offer pathways to engineer 2D systems for future quantum information applications. There are a few examples of integration of these emitters with plasmonic nanostructures and waveguides.^{24,57} As is discussed below, strain localization has been used to develop a number of SPE fabrication methods which provide novel options for integrating SPEs with photonic devices. Focused ion beams provide an approach to create SPEs in 2D materials that is compelling for integration with photonic devices because they retain their layered properties (i.e., flatness). The emerging field of interlayer excitons provides a vast number of options for exploring quantum properties using currently available 2D materials. Nevertheless, there are still challenges for optimizing these SPEs. For example, one concern is stability (i.e., shelf time) of the SPEs-it is essential for long-term applications and needs to be investigated in detail. Other disadvantages, which are also seen in other solid state systems are emission intermittency and spectral wandering. Finally, lifetime-limited linewidths, which are essential for many quantum applications, remain to be demonstrated.

III. QUANTUM EMITTERS IN hBN

A. Emitter engineering

Since the discovery of quantum emitters in hBN,⁵⁸ many methods have been developed to create emitters or "activate" defects in hBN,^{59–63} whereby "activation" refers to modification of a defect or its enclosing environment so as to make it fluorescent. While the original works^{59,61–63} reported methods such as annealing that activate emitters at random locations throughout hBN flakes, deterministic creation of defects both spatially and spectrally has been the focus of recent research. This is indeed a critical challenge in the case of hBN SPEs as the emission energy varies from the UV⁶⁴ to the near IR⁶⁵ spectral range, and emitters in as-grown material are located primarily at extended defects.⁶⁶ Engineering of quantum emitters in a relatively narrow window of the visible spectrum has been achieved by bottomup growth of hBN^{67,68}—the center ZPL emission wavelength can be narrowed down to 580 \pm 10 nm by CVD growth of multilayer hBN.⁶ Creation of emitters during growth of hBN on copper is grain dependent and emitters usually appear on $\langle 100 \rangle$ oriented crystals.⁶⁸ It is also possible to tune the center emission wavelength by controlling the growth conditions. For instance, the presence of nickel as a supporting substrate for copper foil has resulted in a 50 nm shift in the ZPL center emission wavelength of emitters in CVD grown hBN.⁶⁹ In addition, a rigorous study of hBN films grown by various methods has revealed the role of carbon in quantum emitters in hBN as shown in Fig. 4(a). The result was confirmed using direct implantation of carbon into hBN⁷⁰ though control over the spatial position of these emitters during implantation has remained elusive. Density functional theory (DFT) calculations suggest a complex defect, and negatively charged V_BC_N⁻ could be the source of emission;⁷⁰ however, an extensive DFT effort from the community also suggested other carbon-related defects.⁷

Positional control of quantum emitters has been overcome by CVD growth onto a substrate of silicon oxide nanopillars [Fig. 4(b)], yielding a near-unity success rate in deterministic fabrication of emitter arrays in hBN.⁷⁹ Engineering of quantum emitters in hBN has also been achieved by post-growth approaches such as plasma processing.^{61,62,80} Spatial control over the position of quantum emitters was demonstrated using the electron beam of an electron microscope which resulted in activation of single photon emitters with a ZPL emission energy of ~3 eV (~435 nm), as is shown in Fig. 4(c).⁸¹

Some studies have taken advantage of damage sites created by mechanical indentation⁸² or ion milling⁸³ to localize the emitters to the defective regions. Both processes yielded a success rate of ~30% in creation of quantum emitters. Fabrication of patterned 2D heterostructures provides another avenue for localization of emitters in hBN. Graphene has been shown to suppress emission of quantum emitters in hBN. ⁸⁴ By placing patterned graphene on top of three-layered hBN, localization of emitters has been demonstrated. Specifically, every opening within graphene resulted in an active emitter in the underlying hBN. A schematic of this structure is shown in Fig. 4(d).⁸⁵ An outstanding challenge is to find specific crystallographic structures of defects and develop techniques for engineering of emitters using ion implantation methods and by introducing impurities during growth.

B. Spin defects in hBN

The interface between optical emission and electron spin state underpins a class of defects known as spin defects such as the NV center in diamond⁸⁶ and vacancy complexes in silicon carbide.⁸⁷ These defects are highly sought after for the realization of scalable quantum information technologies.^{88,89} In hBN, a group of spin defects has been reported to exhibit optically detected magnetic resonance (ODMR) at room temperature.^{90,91} Negatively charged boron vacancy (V_B^-) centers were the first discovered hBN defect with optically addressable spin. The defect is a spin 1 system with a ground state triplet separated by 3.47 GHz (Dgs) and 50 MHz (Egs) as is shown in Fig. 5(a). Figure 5(b) shows ODMR contrast from V_B^- which is split further in the presence of an external magnetic field due to Zeeman splitting of $M_S\,=\pm 1$ sublevels in the ground state. The interaction of electron spin in V_B^- with three nitrogen nuclei results in the appearance of hyperfine structure with a splitting of \sim 47 MHz, which indicates the presence of three nitrogen nuclei surrounding the defect [Fig. 5(c)]. The creation of these defects via ion implantation independent of the



FIG. 4. Deterministic creation of hBN quantum emitters. (a) Photoluminescence emission of carbon-related defects as the carbon content is increased during growth. Reproduced with permission from Mendelson *et al.*, Nat. Mater. **20**, 321 (2021). Copyright 2021 Nature Publishing Group. (b) Localization of emitters during growth to an array of silicon oxide nanopillars. Reproduced with permission from Li *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 3626 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (c) Deterministic creation of emitters in hBN with an emission wavelength of ~435 nm using a focused electron beam. Both spatial (left panel) and spectral (right panel) control have been demostrated. Reproduced with permission from Fournier *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **12**, 3779 (2021). Copyright 2019 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. (d) Localization of emitters in hBN by fabrication of a patterned 2D hetrostructure. Reproduced with permission from Stewart *et al.*, ACS Nano **15**, 13591 (2021). Copyright 2021

ion species together with theoretical calculations confirm the defect structure to be the negatively charged boron vacancy. $^{92-94}$ A drawback of these defects is a relatively low quantum efficiency, and hence low brightness, which hinders isolation of a single defect. Consequently, all studies performed to date have been focused on ensembles of $\rm V_B^-$ centers.

Several works have studied spin dephasing of V_B^- centers. The spin lattice relaxation time (T_1) for V_B^- is ~8 μ s, which is independent of external magnetic field due to a strong local field around the V_B^- .^{95,96} This value increases to 12.5 ms upon cooling to cryogenic temperature. The spin–spin coherence time (T_2) is ~2 μ s at 300 K and at cryogenic temperatures, while the spin-dephasing time T_2^* is ~100 ns. It has been shown that the electron spin is mainly affected by the nuclear spins in the far distant coordination shell from the vacancy, but the exact decoherence mechanism has remained elusive to date.⁹⁵ V_B^- is a potential candidate for high sensitivity measurements as it can be created near the surface due to the 2D nature of Hbn.⁹⁷ The zero field splitting of the V_B^- shifts by more than 300 MHz over the temperature range of 5–600 K.⁹⁸ While Dgs is not affected by the magnetic field, the shift with temperature is relatively large compared to known spin systems such as the NV center in diamond.

Moreover, the increase in Dgs with temperature is not linear and can be explained by considering the relative change of a and c (η_a and η_c) lattice parameters of hBN with temperature,

$$D_{gs}(T) = D_{gs}(295 \text{ K}) + \theta_a \eta_a(T)h + \theta_c \eta_c(T)h.$$
(1)

Considering the possibility of creation of V_B^- in atomically thin hBN and the observation of more than 40% contrast in ODMR,⁹⁹ improved sensitivity using V_B^- spin levels is a compelling milestone in this field.

ODMR signatures have also been reported for other defects in hBN, specifically for single photon emitters.^{91,100} Ensembles of carbon-related defects show a weak singlet ODMR peak [Fig. 5(d)] which is attributed to the presence of both negative and positive ODMR for single emitters, as is shown in Fig. 5(e).^{70,91} ODMR spectra from a single defect consist of an asymmetric peak with a contrast of up to ~6%. The double resonance measured from these defects is split by ~35 MHz, and it is unclear whether it is caused by zero field splitting or hyperfine coupling to nuclei. Similarly, paramagnetic single emitters have been reported for groups of emitters with a ZPL in the range of 700–750 nm.¹⁰⁰ The ODMR signature is similar to that of carbon-related defects but hyperfine splitting or quadrupolar coupling



FIG. 5. Spin defects in hBN. (a) Electronic level structure of negatively charged boron vacancies with a zero field splitting of 3.47 GHz at room temperature. (b) ODMR measurement of V_{B} in hBN with Zeeman splitting of its ground state in the presence of an external magnetic field. Reproduced with permission from Gottscholl *et al.*, Nat. Mater. **19**, 540 (2020). Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group. (c) Boron vacancy defect in the hBN lattice. (d) Electronic level structure of a quantum emitter in hBN with a doublet ground state. (e) ODMR spectra from these defects can be both positive and negative, resulting in very small contrast when measuring ensembles. Reproduced with permission from CC BY) license. (f) Carbon-related defects have been suggested as possible candidates, but the structural origin for the defect is unknown. Reproduced with permission from Chejanovsky *et al.*, Nat. Mater. **20**, 1079 (2021). Copyright 2021 Nature Publishing Group.

was not observed in this case. The origin of the defect has remained elusive since the experimental data did not match theoretical calculations of possible carbon-related defects [Fig. 5(f)]. Experimental identification of these defects through hyperfine or quadrupolar coupling and the true spin level structure of these defects remain a challenge for future experiments.

C. Photophysics of hBN emitters

Since the discovery of quantum emitters in hBN, many researchers have investigated the optical properties of these defects, including the emission linewidth,¹⁰¹ as well as stark shift^{102–104} and dephasing processes. In general, a strong interaction between emitters in hBN and the underlying substrate or local charge fluctuations within the materials have been reported in multiple studies.^{105–108} The first cryogenic study of these emitters under resonant excitation revealed a linewidth of ~1 GHz, and substantial blinking and spectral diffusion.¹⁰⁹ Subsequent studies reported similar linewidth and confirmed dephasing due to both phonon coupling and spectral diffusion.^{110,111} However, Fourier-limited linewidths have, nonetheless, been observed in some hBN emitters,^{112,113} which persists even at room temperature.¹¹⁴ These results have been attributed to complete decoupling of emitters from in-plane phonon modes and the two dimensional nature of hBN.^{114,115} A range of photophysical properties have been reported for various emitters in hBN, indicating that a number of distinct defect species play a role in the reported behaviors. For example, it has been argued that multiple states are involved in the excitation or relaxation of some hBN emitters.^{116–119} The role of more than two electronic levels was hypothesized to explain an increase in the autocorrelation function intensity at zero delay time. This was backed further by the presence of two closely spaced phonon sideband lines as well as a doubleexponential decay function.¹¹⁷ Furthermore, cross correlation measurements of two adjacent zero phonon lines confirmed the presence of photochromisms in some hBN emitters, as is shown in Fig. 6(a).¹¹⁶ Control over the charge switching states was demonstrated by illumination with a higher energy laser, ¹²⁰ and it was shown [Fig. 6(b)] that co-excitation with a high energy laser can be used to switch controllably quantum emitters in hBN.¹¹⁸

Some of the observed photophysical properties have been exploited for super-resolution imaging—a repumping (i.e., co-excitation) method was used to achieve a spatial resolution better than 100 nm in super-resolution imaging of quantum emitters using a ground-state depletion imaging scheme.¹²⁰ More recently, the phonon sideband of hBN emitters was mapped out using stimulated emission depletion spectroscopy.¹²¹ Imaging of the emitters using the same technique [Fig. 6(c)] resulted in a spatial resolution of ~50 nm.¹²²



FIG. 6. Photophysical properties and application of hBN quantum emitters. (a) Double ZPL emission from a single emitter in hBN which is switches over time. Reproduced with permission from Feldman *et al.*, Optica 8, 1 (2021). Copyright 2021 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. (b) Optical gating of quantum emitters in hBN using double excitation. Reproduced with permission from Khatri *et al.*, Nano Lett. **20**, 4256 (2020). Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. (c) Super-resolution microscopy of hBN quantum emitters using the STED method. Reproduced with permission from Khatri *et al.*, ACS Photonics 8, 2081 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d) Schematic illustration of transport of H+ on a hBN monolayer, giving rise to switching of quantum emitters. Reproduced with permission from Comtet *et al.*, Nat. Nanotechnol. **15**, 598 (2020). Copyright 2020 Nature Publishing Group.

These results open up avenues for application of hBN emitters in biological imaging, with flexibility in choosing the desired emission energy.

Beyond imaging, the distinctive properties of hBN emitters and the 2D nature of the host material have led to their use in various applications. Bright and stable single photon emitters in hBN have been used for quantum random number generation at room temperature¹²³ and delayed-choice experiments.¹²⁴ Emitters in hBN monolayers have been shown to be affected by protons present in an aqueous environment. This results in emission switching when there is an interaction with He⁺ and provides a unique optical method for tracking the transport of He^+ as is shown schematically in Fig. 6(d).¹²⁵ Interactions of emitters in hBN with graphene and other two dimensional materials have been also been investigated,^{84,126} with an emphasis on charge transfer and energy transfer within the 2D hetrostructures. The ability to fabricate heterostructures from a broad range of 2D materials creates interesting opportunities for investigations of quantum phenomena, and advanced engineering and control of quantum emitters in hBN.

IV. LIGHT-MATTER INTERACTIONS

A. Integration of emitters with photonic structures

On-chip nanophotonics is underpinned by light-matter interactions mediated by SPEs coupled to photonic nanostructures.^{127,128} Coupling to cavities and waveguides provides a versatile means to integrate emitters in photonic circuits. Moreover, coupling to cavities in the weak light–matter interaction regime is used to enhance emission rates, reduce emission linewidths, and enhance ODMR contrast,^{99,129–143} all of which are needed to improve the competitiveness and appeal of SPEs in layered materials for quantum applications. The strong coupling regime can be used to access cavity quantum electrodynamics; however, while having been demonstrated with ensemble emissions in 2D materials,^{144–146} it is yet to be realized using SPEs in layered hosts.

Layered materials are appealing for device and photonic circuit fabrication due to the ergonomic nature of exfoliation and pick-andplace positioning techniques. In addition, the atomic and near-atomic thickness of monolayers and few-layer flakes make them attractive for coupling of SPEs via the evanescent field, and the ability to localize emitters by strain gradients has enabled a unique approach for aligning emitters with edges and asperities at microdisks, nanowires, slot waveguides, nanoparticles, and nanopillars.^{57,133,135,137,140-142,147-151} This versatility offered by layered materials has enabled rapid progress in studies of . coupling waveguides,^{24,150–153} plasmonic emitter to 99,131,133,134,138,141,142,147,149,154 nanostructures, dielectric microdisk, bullseye and photonic crystal cavities (PCCs),^{26,130,132,137,139,140,155} and open-access Fabry-Pérot microcavities.^{129,136,143} We note, however, that most literature on coupling of emissions in TMDCs to PCCs are focused on ensembles,^{156–159} while reports on SPEs are relatively sparce,²⁰

and the reported SPE coupling efficiencies and enhancement factors are low.

The utility of strain field confinement is particularly compelling and illustrated in Fig. 7 by works where SPEs in monolayer WSe₂ were localized to (a) a dielectric waveguide,¹⁵¹ (b) a plasmonic nanorod waveguide,¹⁴⁷ (c) plasmonic nanocavities,⁵⁷ and (d) a circular Bragg grating (bullseye) cavity. In Figs. 7(a)–7(c), waveguide/nanocube edges/ corners were used to generate strain fields in a WSe₂ overlayer/underlayer, while in (d) a conical nanopillar was fabricated in the center of the Al_{0.31}Ga_{0.69}As bullseye in order to localize an SPE at the cavity hotspot.

Coupling to waveguides is highlighted further in Fig. 8 by studies of WSe₂ SPE incorporation in photonic circuits [Figs. 8(a) and 8(b)]¹⁵⁰ and coupling of hBN V_B^- SPE ensembles to gold film microwave waveguides [Figs. 8(c) and 8(d)].⁹⁹ The gold antennas serve a dual function—(i) plasmonic enhancement of SPE brightness and (ii) enhancement of contrast and signal-to-noise ratio in ODMR spectra of hBN V_B^- spin defects.

B. Purcell enhancement: Plasmonic vs dielectric cavities

In discussing works on coupling of SPEs to cavities, it is useful to delineate approaches used to achieve Purcell enhancement of the spontaneous emission rate which affect the spatial alignment tolerances of the coupled systems. The Purcell enhancement factor is proportional to the cavity quality factor (Q) and inversely proportional to the mode volume (V). Plasmonic cavities suffer from high losses (i.e., low Q factors), but enable ultra-small mode volumes defined by the geometries of plasmonic nanostructures. Plasmonic hot spots are localized at nanostructure edges and asperities which can simultaneously confine electromagnetic fields and achieve spatial matching with strainlocalized TMDC SPEs, as has been demonstrated using metallic slot waveguides,¹⁴⁹ nanocubes,⁵⁷ nanorods,^{141,154} nanocones,¹⁴² and bowtie antennas. These works are focused predominantly on improving the properties of coupled TMDC SPEs via excitation and emission enhancement. Similarly to TMDCs, plasmonic nanocavities were also used to enhance the optical properties of hBN SPEs,^{131,134,138,148} and strain gradients were suggested to play a role in hBN emitter activation in some of these studies.^{131,148} The emitters in hBN are, however, deep trap defects-the SPE "activation" mechanism is not well understood and likely distinct from that of exciton localization in TMDCs.

In contrast to plasmonic cavities, dielectric PCCs typically exhibit lower losses and thus enable efficient Purcell enhancement via high Q factors. However, as we noted above, works that demonstrate coupling



FIG. 7. Spatial alignment of WSe₂ SPEs at photonic nanostructures by strain. Edges of dielectric and metallic nanostructures generate strain gradients in monolayer WSe₂ and confine excitons, enabling coupling of SPEs to photonic circuit components. (a) Emitter coupled to a silicon nitride waveguide in a study of resonant SPE excitation in a photonic circuit. Reproduced with permission from Errando-Herranz *et al.*, ACS Photonics **8**, 1069 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (b) Emitter coupled to a propagating surface plasmon polariton mode of a silver nanowire. Reproduced with permission from Cai *et al.*, Nano Lett. **17**, 6564 (2017). Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society. (c) Emitter coupled to plasmonic gap nanocavities defined by a gold film and the corners of gold nanocubes in a study that achieved Purcell enhancement factors of up to 551 and SPE emission rates of up to 42 MHz. Reproduced with permission from Lee *et al.*, Nat. Nanotechnol. **13**, 1337 (2018). Copyright 2018 Nature Publishing Group. (d) Emitter coupled to a a circular Bragg grating (bullseye) cavity by a strain field generated by a nanopillar incorporated in the center of the cavity. Reproduced with permission from If *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 4715 (2021). Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.



FIG. 8. Coupling of SPEs in layered materials to dielectric and metallic waveguides for photonic circuit integration and ODMR contrast enhancement. (a) and (b) Emitter in monolayer WSe₂ coupled to a silicon nitride circuit in a study of on-chip single photon guiding. Reproduced with permission from Peyskens *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **10**, 4435 (2019). Copyright 2019 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. The PL map in (b) was generated by scanning an excitation beam across the waveguide (indicated by white lines) from the top and collecting PL through a fiber. The green and red arrows in the inset indicate the excitation and collecting PL through a fiber. The green and red arrows in the inset indicate the excitation and collecting PL through a fiber. The green and red arrows in the inset indicate the excitation and collecting PL through a fiber. The green and red arrows in the inset indicate the excitation and collecting PL through a fiber. The green and red arrows in the inset indicate the across the volume of hBN V_B⁻ spin defects coupled to a gold microwave waveguide used to enhance ODMR contrast and signal-to-noise ratio. The room temperature spectra in (d) show ODMR contrast of approximately 19% and 46% at microwave excitation powers of 100 mW and 2 W, respectively. Reproduced with permission from Gao *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 7708 (2021). Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society.

to TMDC SPEs are limited^{26,155}—notably, So *et al.*²⁶ coupled a WSe₂ SPE to a nanobeam PCC in a configuration where the SPEs were localized to a cavity hot spot by a strain gradient generated by a gap in a dielectric nanorod located below the PCC [Figs. 9(a)-9(c)]. Most works on coupling of SPEs in layered materials to PCCs are, however, focused on hBN, using the so-called hybrid and monolithic integration methods discussed below.

C. Hybrid vs monolithic integration methods

It is instructive to delineate hybrid from monolithic approaches to coupling, particularly in the context of layered materials as their properties can vary dramatically between monolayers and multilayers. In the hybrid integration method, an emitter is placed on a waveguide or the hot spot of a cavity composed of a material that is different from that of the layered SPE host. Conversely, in the monolithic approach, an SPE is embedded within a dielectric nanostructure fabricated from the host material. The monolithic approach can be advantageous in that it avoids losses at interfaces of different materials. It has been applied to hBN^{132,139,160,161} since hBN emitters have deep states and are bright despite the indirect nature of the bandgap of hBN. The monolithic approach has, however, not been applied to TMDCs since multilayers are needed to achieve optical confinement, and SPEs in thick TMDCs are very dim due to the indirect nature of the bandgaps of TMDC multilayers.

The monolithic approach has been used to incorporate SPEs in a range of hBN photonic nanostructures such as waveguides, bullseye cavities resonators, and PCCs^{132,139,160} [Figs. 9(d)-9(f)]. The hBN nanostructures are typically fabricated by reactive ion etching and/or chemically mediated, direct-write electron beam induced etching [Figs. 9(d) and 9(e)].

Next steps in works on integration of SPEs in photonic nanostructures are foreshadowed by studies of ensemble excitonic emissions in TMDCs. Strong coupling has been achieved in studies of microcavity polaritons and polarons using monolayer MoS_2^{146} and $MoSe_2^{144,145}$ embedded in distributed Bragg reflector (DBR) microcavities [Figs. 10(a) and 10(b)], but is yet to be realized using SPEs in layered materials. Similarly, high refractive index dielectric nanoantennas which can confine optical modes to ultra-small volumes^{162,163} have been used to enhance ensemble excitonic emissions in WSe₂ [Figs. 10(c) and 10(d)],¹⁵⁷ and more recently demonstrated also with single photon emitters in WSe₂¹⁶⁴—interestingly, the coupled emitters exhibited emission enhancement of up to ×10⁴, enabling optical coherence measurements at low excitation power. However, the measured coherence times still remains modest (~3 ps).

Works on coherent light emission from two dimensional materials^{158,159,165} are also instructive here as they illustrate how coupling to microcavities can be used to overcome limitations imposed by the extremely low thickness of monolayers. Specifically, atomically flat materials are challenging for the design of on-chip excitonic lasers due to the small volume and a lack of light confinement in a 2D gain



FIG. 9. Hybrid (a)–(c) and monolithic (d)–(f) integration methods used to couple SPEs to nanobeam photonic crystal cavities. (a)–(c) WSe₂ emitter coupled to a silicon nitride cavity. Reproduced with permission from So *et al.*, Nano Lett. **21**, 1546 (2021) Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. The emitter was localized to the cavity hotspot by strain generated in the WSe₂ monolayer by a gap in a silicon nitride nanorod located below and oriented perpendicular to the nanobeam. The electron micrograph in (b) shows the nanorod–nanobeam structure. The photoluminescence saturation curves in (c) show the brightness of three different emitters located in a region of WSe₂ that was suspended in air, positioned at but not coupled to a cavity, and coupled to a cavity. (d)–(f) Studies of SPEs in monolithically fabricated hBN nanobeam cavities. In (d), a nanobeam cavity was tuned iteratively by direct-write electron beam induced chemical etching. Reproduced with permission from Kim *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **9**, 2623 (2018). Copyright 2018 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license. The photoluminescence decay time measurements in (f) are from a subsequent study and show the lifetime of an SPE before and after it was brought into resonance with a nanobeam cavity mode by gas condensation. Reproduced with permission from Fröch *et al.*, Small **2021**, 2104805. Copyright 2021 Willey.

medium. To overcome this issue, exitonic TMDC lasers rely on coupling of TMDC excitons to microcavities, e.g., where WSe_2 and WS_2 were coupled to a PCC and microdisk cavity, respectively.^{158,165}

V. CONCLUSIONS

The emergence of single defects in 2D materials has spurred several interesting research directions. Fundamentally, new systems that were not envisioned previously, such as moiré trapped excitons, will be vital in understanding the underlying photodynamics of these unique superlattices. Technologically, coupling to waveguides and onchip guiding of quantum light has now became easier and more accessible since the photonic circuits can be engineered using conventional methods and materials, and layered materials can be incorporated using ergonomic exfoliation and transfer techniques. This is important as it eliminates the need for high-end fabrication steps such as the growth of ultra-pure materials, as was often the case for arsenic and nitride-based quantum dots and diamond. The rapid progress in engineering of emitters in 2D materials on-demand is also noteworthy. Focused ion beam systems are now commonplace, and ion implantation and irradiation techniques are in the spotlight as the most promising approach for introducing localized defects in 2D lattices. Indeed, the rapid rate of progress in the field has, in large part, been enabled by the ease and broad accessibility of the material and device fabrication techniques.

Questions remain, however, about the ultimate performance of quantum emitters in 2D systems compared to the more established platforms. Indeed, key quantum experiments are still missing and a number of performance metrics are inadequate, including the quantum efficiency of TMDC emitters, demonstrations of two photon interference, examination of the spin-photon interface, isolation of single V_B^- defects in hBN (the only defect in a layered material to date with a triplet ground state), and extension of the V_B^- spin coherence time. Moreover, consensus is yet to be reached regarding the atomic structure of most emitters in both hBN and TMDCs. We will undoubtedly see increased research activity aimed at solving these challenges as an increasing number of groups join this fascinating journey into the quantum world in flatland.



FIG. 10. (a) and (b) Strong light-matter interactions realized by coupling emissions from TMDCs to distributed Bragg reflector (DBR) microcavities in works that serve as stepping stones to polaritonic devices based on 2D materials. Reproduced with permission from Sidler *et al.*, Nat. Phys. **13**, 255 (2017). Copyright 2015 Nature Publishing Group and Liu *et al.*, Nat. Photonics **9**, 30 (2015). Copyright 2017 Nature Publishing Group. (c) and (d) Cylindrical gallium phosphide nanoantennas used to increase excitonic photoluminescence intensities in monolayer and bilayer WSe₂ by enhancement factors as high as 10⁴. Reproduced with permission from Sortino *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **10**, 5119 (2019). Copyright 2019 Author(s), licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the Australian Research Council (Grant No. CE200100010) and the Asian Office of Aerospace Research and Development (FA2386-20-1-4014) for the financial support.

AUTHOR DECLARATIONS

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY

Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no new data were created or analyzed in this study.

REFERENCES

- ¹S. Wehner, D. Elkouss, and R. Hanson, "Quantum internet: A vision for the road ahead," Science **362**(6412), eaam9288 (2018).
- ²See https://www.ukri.org/our-work/our-main-funds/industrial-strategy-challengefund/artificial-intelligence-and-data-economy/commercialising-quantum-technologies-challenge/ for Commercialising-quantum-technologies-challenge (2021).
- ³H.-K. Lo, M. Curty, and K. Tamaki, "Secure quantum key distribution," Nat Photonics 8(8), 595–604 (2014).
- ⁴See ionq.com for quantum computing startup based on trapped ions.
- ⁵M. Kjaergaard, M. E. Schwartz, J. Braumüller, P. Krantz, J. I. J. Wang, S. Gustavsson, and W. D. Oliver, "Superconducting qubits: Current state of play," Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 11(1), 369–395 (2020).
- ⁶M. Atatüre, D. Englund, N. Vamivakas, S.-Y. Lee, and J. Wrachtrup, "Material platforms for spin-based photonic quantum technologies," Nat. Rev. Mater. **3**, 38–51 (2018).
- ⁷S. I. Azzam, K. Parto, and G. Moody, "Prospects and challenges of quantum emitters in 2D materials," Appl. Phys. Lett. 118(24), 240502 (2021).

- ⁸K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, and A. A. Firsov, "Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films," Science **306**(5696), 666–669 (2004).
- ⁹A. Rodin, M. Trushin, A. Carvalho, and A. H. Castro Neto, "Collective excitations in 2D materials," Nat. Rev. Phys. 2(10), 524–537 (2020).
- ¹⁰A. K. Geim and I. V. Grigorieva, "Van der Waals heterostructures," Nature 499(7459), 419–425 (2013).
- ¹¹ F. Xia, H. Wang, D. Xiao, M. Dubey, and A. Ramasubramaniam, "Two-dimensional material nanophotonics," Nat. Photonics 8(12), 899–907 (2014).
- ¹²X. Liu and M. C. Hersam, "2D materials for quantum information science," Nat. Rev. Mater. 4(10), 669–684 (2019).
- ¹³J. R. Schaibley, H. Yu, G. Clark, P. Rivera, J. S. Ross, K. L. Seyler, W. Yao, and X. Xu, "Valleytronics in 2D materials," Nat. Rev. Mater. 1(11), 16055 (2016).
- ¹⁴A. Srivastava, M. Sidler, A. V. Allain, D. S. Lembke, A. Kis, and A. Imamoğlu, "Optically active quantum dots in monolayer WSe₂," Nat. Nanotechnol. 10(6), 491–496 (2015).
- ¹⁵Y.-M. He, G. Clark, J. R. Schaibley, Y. He, M.-C. Chen, Y.-J. Wei, X. Ding, Q. Zhang, W. Yao, X. Xu, C.-Y. Lu, and J.-W. Pan, "Single quantum emitters in monolayer semiconductors," Nat. Nanotechnol. **10**(6), 497–502 (2015).
- ¹⁶ M. Koperski, K. Nogajewski, A. Arora, V. Cherkez, P. Mallet, J. Y. Veuillen, J. Marcus, P. Kossacki, and M. Potemski, "Single photon emitters in exfoliated WSe₂ structures," Nat. Nanotechnol. **10**(6), 503–506 (2015).
- ¹⁷C. Chakraborty, L. Kinnischtzke, K. M. Goodfellow, R. Beams, and A. N. Vamivakas, "Voltage-controlled quantum light from an atomically thin semiconductor," Nat. Nanotechnol. **10**(6), 507–511 (2015).
- ¹⁸P. Tonndorf, R. Schmidt, R. Schneider, J. Kern, M. Buscema, G. A. Steele, A. Castellanos-Gomez, H. S. J. van der Zant, S. Michaelis de Vasconcellos, and R. Bratschitsch, "Single-photon emission from localized excitons in an atomically thin semiconductor," Optica 2(4), 347–352 (2015).
- ¹⁹J. Klein, M. Lorke, M. Florian, F. Sigger, L. Sigl, S. Rey, J. Wierzbowski, J. Cerne, K. Müller, E. Mitterreiter, P. Zimmermann, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, U. Wurstbauer, M. Kaniber, M. Knap, R. Schmidt, J. J. Finley, and A. W. Holleitner, "Site-selectively generated photon emitters in monolayer MoS₂ via local helium ion irradiation," Nat. Commun. **10**(1), 2755 (2019).
- ²⁰C. Palacios-Berraquero, D. M. Kara, A. R. P. Montblanch, M. Barbone, P. Latawiec, D. Yoon, A. K. Ott, M. Loncar, A. C. Ferrari, and M. Atatüre,

"Large-scale quantum-emitter arrays in atomically thin semiconductors," Nat. Commun. 8(1), 15093 (2017).

- ²¹P. Tonndorf, S. Schwarz, J. Kern, I. Niehues, O. Del Pozo-Zamudio, A. I. Dmitriev, A. P. Bakhtinov, D. N. Borisenko, N. N. Kolesnikov, A. I. Tartakovskii, S. Michaelis de Vasconcellos, and R. Bratschitsch, "Single-photon emitters in GaSe," 2D Mater. 4(2), 021010 (2017).
- ²²L. Yu, M. Deng, J. L. Zhang, S. Borghardt, B. Kardynal, J. Vučković, and T. F. Heinz, "Site-controlled quantum emitters in monolayer MoSe₂," Nano Lett. 21(6), 2376–2381 (2021).
- ²³J. Kern, I. Niehues, P. Tonndorf, R. Schmidt, D. Wigger, R. Schneider, T. Stiehm, S. Michaelis de Vasconcellos, D. E. Reiter, T. Kuhn, and R. Bratschitsch, "Nanoscale positioning of single-photon emitters in atomically thin WSe₂," Adv. Mater. 28(33), 7101–7105 (2016).
- ²⁴P. Tonndorf, O. Del Pozo-Zamudio, N. Gruhler, J. Kern, R. Schmidt, A. I. Dmitriev, A. P. Bakhtinov, A. I. Tartakovskii, W. Pernice, S. Michaelis de Vasconcellos, and R. Bratschitsch, "On-chip waveguide coupling of a layered semiconductor single-photon source," Nano Lett. 17(9), 5446–5451 (2017).
- ²⁵Q. Wang, J. Maisch, F. Tang, D. Zhao, S. Yang, R. Joos, S. L. Portalupi, P. Michler, and J. H. Smet, "Highly polarized single photons from straininduced quasi-1D localized excitons in WSe₂," Nano Lett. **21**(17), 7175–7182 (2021).
- ²⁶J.-P. So, K.-Y. Jeong, J. M. Lee, K.-H. Kim, S.-J. Lee, W. Huh, H.-R. Kim, J.-H. Choi, J. M. Kim, Y. S. Kim, C.-H. Lee, S. Nam, and H.-G. Park, "Polarization control of deterministic single-photon emitters in monolayer WSe₂," Nano Lett. **21**(3), 1546–1554 (2021).
- ²⁷A. Branny, S. Kumar, R. Proux, and B. D. Gerardot, "Deterministic straininduced arrays of quantum emitters in a two-dimensional semiconductor," Nat. Commun. 8, 15053 (2017).
- ²⁸E. Mitterreiter, B. Schuler, A. Micevic, D. Hernangómez-Pérez, K. Barthelmi, K. A. Cochrane, J. Kiemle, F. Sigger, J. Klein, E. Wong, E. S. Barnard, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, M. Lorke, F. Jahnke, J. J. Finley, A. M. Schwartzberg, D. Y. Qiu, S. Refaely-Abramson, A. W. Holleitner, A. Weber-Bargioni, and C. Kastl, "The role of chalcogen vacancies for atomic defect emission in MoS₂," Nat. Commun. **12**(1), 3822 (2021).
- ²⁹L. Linhart, M. Paur, V. Smejkal, J. Burgdörfer, T. Mueller, and F. Libisch, "Localized intervalley defect excitons as single-photon emitters in WSe₂," Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**(14), 146401 (2019).
- ³⁰S. Kumar, A. Kaczmarczyk, and B. D. Gerardot, "Strain-induced spatial and spectral isolation of quantum emitters in mono- and bilayer WSe₂," Nano Lett. **15**(11), 7567–7573 (2015).
- ³¹K. Parto, S. I. Azzam, K. Banerjee, and G. Moody, "Defect and strain engineering of monolayer WSe₂ enables site-controlled single-photon emission up to 150 K," Nat. Commun. **12**(1), 3585 (2021).
- ³²O. Iff, D. Tedeschi, J. Martín-Sánchez, M. Moczała-Dusanowska, S. Tongay, K. Yumigeta, J. Taboada-Gutiérrez, M. Savaresi, A. Rastelli, P. Alonso-González, S. Höfling, R. Trotta, and C. Schneider, "Strain-tunable single photon sources in WSe₂ monolayers," Nano Lett. **19**(10), 6931–6936 (2019).
- ³³C. Chakraborty, K. M. Goodfellow, S. Dhara, A. Yoshimura, V. Meunier, and A. N. Vamivakas, "Quantum-confined stark effect of individual defects in a van der Waals heterostructure," Nano Lett. **17**(4), 2253–2258 (2017).
- ³⁴J. Klein, L. Sigl, S. Gyger, K. Barthelmi, M. Florian, S. Rey, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, F. Jahnke, C. Kastl, V. Zwiller, K. D. Jöns, K. Müller, U. Wurstbauer, J. J. Finley, and A. W. Holleitner, "Engineering the luminescence and generation of individual defect emitters in atomically thin MoS₂," ACS Photonics 8(2), 669–677 (2021).
- ³⁵H. Zhao, M. T. Pettes, Y. Zheng, and H. Htoon, "Site-controlled telecom single-photon emitters in atomically-thin MoTe₂," arXiv:2105.00576 (2021).
- ³⁶Y.-M. He, O. Iff, N. Lundt, V. Baumann, M. Davanco, K. Srinivasan, S. Höfling, and C. Schneider, "Cascaded emission of single photons from the biexciton in monolayered WSe₂," Nat. Commun. 7(1), 13409 (2016).
- ³⁷C. Palacios-Berraquero, M. Barbone, D. M. Kara, X. Chen, I. Goykhman, D. Yoon, A. K. Ott, J. Beitner, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, A. C. Ferrari, and M. Atatüre, "Atomically thin quantum light-emitting diodes," Nat. Commun. 7, 12978 (2016).
- ³⁸J.-P. So, H.-R. Kim, H. Baek, K.-Y. Jeong, H.-C. Lee, W. Huh, Y. S. Kim, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, J. Kim, C.-H. Lee, and H.-G. Park, "Electrically

driven strain-induced deterministic single-photon emitters in a van der Waals heterostructure," Sci. Adv. 7(43), eabj3176 (2021).

- ³⁹A. Hötger, J. Klein, K. Barthelmi, L. Sigl, F. Sigger, W. Männer, S. Gyger, M. Florian, M. Lorke, F. Jahnke, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, K. D. Jöns, U. Wurstbauer, C. Kastl, K. Müller, J. J. Finley, and A. W. Holleitner, "Gate-switchable arrays of quantum light emitters in contacted monolayer MoS₂ van der Waals heterodevices," Nano Lett. **21**(2), 1040–1046 (2021).
- ⁴⁰H. Kim, J. S. Moon, G. Noh, J. Lee, and J.-H. Kim, "Position and frequency control of strain-induced quantum emitters in WSe₂ monolayers," Nano Lett. 19(10), 7534–7539 (2019).
- ⁴¹K. S. Novoselov, A. Mishchenko, A. Carvalho, and A. H. Castro Neto, "2D materials and van der Waals heterostructures," Science 353(6298), aac9439 (2016).
- ⁴²Y. Jiang, S. Chen, W. Zheng, B. Zheng, and A. Pan, "Interlayer exciton formation, relaxation, and transport in TMD van der Waals heterostructures," Light: Sci. Appl. **10**(1), 72 (2021).
- ⁴³J. C. W. Song and N. M. Gabor, "Electron quantum metamaterials in van der Waals heterostructures," Nat. Nanotechnol. 13(11), 986–993 (2018).
- ⁴⁴P. Rivera, H. Yu, K. L. Seyler, N. P. Wilson, W. Yao, and X. Xu, "Interlayer valley excitons in heterobilayers of transition metal dichalcogenides," Nat. Nanotechnol. 13(11), 1004–1015 (2018).
- ⁴⁵Q. Tan, A. Rasmita, S. Li, S. Liu, Z. Huang, Q. Xiong, A. Yang Shengyuan, K. S. Novoselov, and W.-B. Gao, "Layer-engineered interlayer excitons," Sci. Adv. 7(30), eabh0863 (2021)
- ⁴⁶O. Karni, E. Barré, S. C. Lau, R. Gillen, E. Y. Ma, B. Kim, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, J. Maultzsch, K. Barmak, R. H. Page, and T. F. Heinz, "Infrared interlayer exciton emission in MoS₂/WSe₂ heterostructures," Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**(24), 247402 (2019).
- ⁴⁷A. R. P. Montblanch, D. M. Kara, I. Paradisanos, C. M. Purser, M. S. G. Feuer, E. M. Alexeev, L. Stefan, Y. Qin, M. Blei, G. Wang, A. R. Cadore, P. Latawiec, M. Lončar, S. Tongay, A. C. Ferrari, and M. Atatüre, "Confinement of longlived interlayer excitons in WS₂/WSe₂ heterostructures," Commun. Phys. 4(1), 119 (2021).
- ⁴⁸D. N. Shanks, F. Mahdikhanysarvejahany, C. Muccianti, A. Alfrey, M. R. Koehler, D. G. Mandrus, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, H. Yu, B. J. LeRoy, and J. R. Schaibley, "Nanoscale trapping of interlayer excitons in a 2D semiconductor heterostructure," Nano Lett. **21**(13), 5641–5647 (2021).
- ⁴⁹H. Baek, M. Brotons-Gisbert, Z. X. Koong, A. Campbell, M. Rambach, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, and B. D. Gerardot, "Highly energy-tunable quantum light from moiré-trapped excitons," Sci. Adv. 6(37), eaba8526 (2020).
- ⁵⁰J. Xia, J. Yan, Z. Wang, Y. He, Y. Gong, W. Chen, T. C. Sum, Z. Liu, P. M. Ajayan, and Z. Shen, "Strong coupling and pressure engineering in WSe₂-MoSe₂ heterobilayers," Nat. Phys. **17**(1), 92–98 (2021).
- ⁵¹Y. Bai, L. Zhou, J. Wang, W. Wu, L. J. McGilly, D. Halbertal, C. F. B. Lo, F. Liu, J. Ardelean, P. Rivera, N. R. Finney, X.-C. Yang, D. N. Basov, W. Yao, X. Xu, J. Hone, A. N. Pasupathy, and X. Y. Zhu, "Excitons in strain-induced one-dimensional moiré potentials at transition metal dichalcogenide hetero-junctions," Nat. Mater. **19**(10), 1068–1073 (2020).
- ⁵²W. Li, X. Lu, S. Dubey, L. Devenica, and A. Srivastava, "Dipolar interactions between localized interlayer excitons in van der Waals heterostructures," Nat. Mater. **19**(6), 624–629 (2020).
- ⁵³X. Lu, X. Chen, S. Dubey, Q. Yao, W. Li, X. Wang, Q. Xiong, and A. Srivastava, "Optical initialization of a single spin-valley in charged WSe₂ quantum dots," Nat. Nanotechnol. 14(5), 426–431 (2019).
- ⁵⁴M. Brotons-Gisbert, H. Baek, A. Molina-Sánchez, A. Campbell, E. Scerri, D. White, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, C. Bonato, and B. D. Gerardot, "Spin–layer locking of interlayer excitons trapped in moiré potentials," Nat. Mater. **19**(6), 630–636 (2020).
- ⁵⁵K. Tran, G. Moody, F. Wu, X. Lu, J. Choi, K. Kim, A. Rai, D. A. Sanchez, J. Quan, A. Singh, J. Embley, A. Zepeda, M. Campbell, T. Autry, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, N. Lu, S. K. Banerjee, K. L. Silverman, S. Kim, E. Tutuc, L. Yang, A. H. MacDonald, and X. Li, "Evidence for moiré excitons in van der Waals heterostructures," Nature 567(7746), 71–75 (2019).
- ⁵⁶K. L. Seyler, P. Rivera, H. Yu, N. P. Wilson, E. L. Ray, D. G. Mandrus, J. Yan, W. Yao, and X. Xu, "Signatures of moiré-trapped valley excitons in MoSe₂/ WSe₂ heterobilayers," Nature 567(7746), 66–70 (2019).
- ⁵⁷Y. Luo, G. D. Shepard, J. V. Ardelean, D. A. Rhodes, B. Kim, K. Barmak, J. C. Hone, and S. Strauf, "Deterministic coupling of site-controlled quantum

emitters in monolayer WSe₂ to plasmonic nanocavities," Nat. Nanotechnol. **13**(12), 1137-1142 (2018).

- ⁵⁸T. T. Tran, K. Bray, M. J. Ford, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Quantum emission from hexagonal boron nitride monolayers," Nat. Nanotechnol. 11(1), 37-41 (2016).
- ⁵⁹T. T. Tran, C. Elbadawi, D. Totonjian, C. J. Lobo, G. Grosso, H. Moon, D. R. Englund, M. J. Ford, I. Aharonovich, and M. Toth, "Robust multicolor single photon emission from point defects in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Nano 10(8), 7331–7338 (2016).
- ⁶⁰ N. V. Proscia, Z. Shotan, H. Jayakumar, P. Reddy, C. Cohen, M. Dollar, A. Alkauskas, M. Doherty, C. A. Meriles, and V. M. Menon, "Near-deterministic activation of room-temperature quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Optica 5(9), 1128–1134 (2018).
- ⁶¹Z.-Q. Xu, C. Elbadawi, T. T. Tran, M. Kianinia, X. Li, D. Liu, T. B. Hoffman, M. Nguyen, S. Kim, J. H. Edgar, X. Wu, L. Song, S. Ali, M. Ford, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Single photon emission from plasma treated 2D hexagonal boron nitride," Nanoscale 10(17), 7957–7965 (2018).
- ⁶²T. Vogl, M. W. Doherty, B. C. Buchler, Y. Lu, and P. K. Lam, "Atomic localization of quantum emitters in multilayer hexagonal boron nitride," Nanoscale 11(30), 14362–14371 (2019).
- ⁶³G. Grosso, H. Moon, B. Lienhard, S. Ali, D. K. Efetov, M. M. Furchi, P. Jarillo-Herrero, M. J. Ford, I. Aharonovich, and D. Englund, "Tunable and high-purity room temperature single-photon emission from atomic defects in hexagonal boron nitride," Nat. Commun. 8(1), 705 (2017).
- ⁶⁴R. Bourrellier, S. Meuret, A. Tararan, O. Stéphan, M. Kociak, L. H. G. Tizei, and A. Zobelli, "Bright UV single photon emission at point defects in h-BN," Nano Lett. 16(7), 4317–4321 (2016).
- ⁶⁵N. Chejanovsky, M. Rezai, F. Paolucci, Y. Kim, T. Rendler, W. Rouabeh, F. Fávaro de Oliveira, P. Herlinger, A. Denisenko, S. Yang, I. Gerhardt, A. Finkler, J. H. Smet, and J. Wrachtrup, "Structural attributes and photodynamics of visible spectrum quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Nano Lett. 16(11), 7037–7045 (2016).
- ⁶⁶D. Yim, M. Yu, G. Noh, J. Lee, and H. Seo, "Polarization and Localization of single-photon emitters in hexagonal boron nitride wrinkles," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 12(32), 36362–36369 (2020).
- ⁶⁷N. Mendelson, Z.-Q. Xu, T. T. Tran, M. Kianinia, J. Scott, C. Bradac, I. Aharonovich, and M. Toth, "Engineering and tuning of quantum emitters in few-layer hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Nano 13(3), 3132–3140 (2019).
- ⁶⁸N. Mendelson, L. Morales-Inostroza, C. Li, R. Ritika, M. A. P. Nguyen, J. Loyola-Echeverria, S. Kim, S. Götzinger, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Grain dependent growth of bright quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Adv. Opt. Mater. 9(1), 2001271 (2021).
- ⁶⁹I. H. Abidi, N. Mendelson, T. T. Tran, A. Tyagi, M. Zhuang, L.-T. Weng, B. Özyilmaz, I. Aharonovich, M. Toth, and Z. Luo, "Selective defect formation in hexagonal boron nitride," Adv. Opt. Mater. 7(13), 1900397 (2019).
- ⁷⁰N. Mendelson, D. Chugh, J. R. Reimers, T. S. Cheng, A. Gottscholl, H. Long, C. J. Mellor, A. Zettl, V. Dyakonov, P. H. Beton, S. V. Novikov, C. Jagadish, H. H. Tan, M. J. Ford, M. Toth, C. Bradac, and I. Aharonovich, "Identifying carbon as the source of visible single-photon emission from hexagonal boron nitride," Nat. Mater. 20(3), 321–328 (2021).
- ⁷¹M. Abdi, J.-P. Chou, A. Gali, and M. B. Plenio, "Color centers in hexagonal boron nitride monolayers: A group theory and *ab initio* analysis," ACS Photonics 5(5), 1967–1976 (2018).
- ⁷²A. Korkmaz, Y. Bulutay, and C. Sevik, "C., Defect states in monolayer hexagonal BN: A comparative DFT and DFT-1/2 study," Phys. B: Condens. Matter 584, 411959 (2020).
- ⁷³S. Gao, H.-Y. Chen, and M. Bernardi, "Radiative properties of quantum emitters in boron nitride from excited state calculations and Bayesian analysis," npj Comput. Mater. 7(1), 85 (2021).
- ⁷⁴J. R. Reimers, A. Sajid, R. Kobayashi, and M. J. Ford, "Convergence of defect energetics calculations," J. Phys. Chem. C 124(38), 21178–21183 (2020).
- ⁷⁵P. Auburger and A. Gali, "Towards *ab initio* identification of paramagnetic substitutional carbon defects in hexagonal boron nitride acting as quantum bits," Phys. Rev. B **104**(7), 075410 (2021).
- ⁷⁶C. Jara, T. Rauch, S. Botti, M. A. L. Marques, A. Norambuena, R. Coto, J. E. Castellanos-Águila, J. R. Maze, and F. Munoz, "First-principles identification

of single photon emitters based on carbon clusters in hexagonal boron nitride," J. Phys. Chem. A **125**(6), 1325–1335 (2021).

- 77C. Linderälv, W. Wieczorek, and P. Erhart, "Vibrational signatures for the identification of single-photon emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. B 103(11), 115421 (2021).
- ⁷⁸L. Weston, D. Wickramaratne, M. Mackoit, A. Alkauskas, and C. G. Van de Walle, "Native point defects and impurities in hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. B 97(21), 214104 (2018).
- ⁷⁹C. Li, N. Mendelson, R. Ritika, Y. Chen, Z.-Q. Xu, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Scalable and deterministic fabrication of quantum emitter arrays from hexagonal boron nitride," Nano Lett. 21(8), 3626–3632 (2021).
- ⁸⁰M. Fischer, J. Caridad, A. Sajid, S. Ghaderzadeh, M. Ghorbani-Asl, L. Gammelgaard, P. Bøggild, K. S. Thygesen, A. Krasheninnikov, and S. Xiao, "Controlled generation of luminescent centers in hexagonal boron nitride by irradiation engineering," Sci. Adv. 7(8), eabe7138 (2021).
- ⁸¹C. Fournier, A. Plaud, S. Roux, A. Pierret, M. Rosticher, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, S. Buil, X. Quélin, J. Barjon, J.-P. Hermier, and A. Delteil, "Position-controlled quantum emitters with reproducible emission wavelength in hexagonal boron nitride," Nat. Commun. 12(1), 3779 (2021).
- ⁸²X. Xu, Z. O. Martin, D. Sychev, A. S. Lagutchev, Y. Chen, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, V. M. Shalaev, and A. Boltasseva, "Creating quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride deterministically on chip-compatible substrates," arXiv:2106.14983 (2021).
- ⁸³J. Ziegler, R. Klaiss, A. Blaikie, D. Miller, V. R. Horowitz, and B. J. Alemán, "Deterministic quantum emitter formation in hexagonal boron nitride via controlled edge creation," Nano Lett. **19**(3), 2121–2127 (2019).
- ⁸⁴Z.-Q. Xu, N. Mendelson, J. A. Scott, C. Li, I. H. Abidi, H. Liu, Z. Luo, I. Aharonovich, and M. Toth, "Charge and energy transfer of quantum emitters in 2D heterostructures," 2D Mater. 7(3), 031001 (2020).
- ⁸⁵J. C. Stewart, Y. Fan, J. S. H. Danial, A. Goetz, A. S. Prasad, O. J. Burton, J. A. Alexander-Webber, S. F. Lee, S. M. Skoff, V. Babenko, and S. Hofmann, "Quantum emitter localization in layer-engineered hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Nano 15(8), 13591–13603 (2021).
- ⁸⁶A. Gruber, A. Dräbenstedt, C. Tietz, L. Fleury, J. Wrachtrup, and C. v Borczyskowski, "Scanning confocal optical microscopy and magnetic resonance on single defect centers," Science 276(5321), 2012–2014 (1997).
- ⁸⁷N. T. Son, C. P. Anderson, A. Bourassa, K. C. Miao, C. Babin, M. Widmann, M. Niethammer, J. U. Hassan, N. Morioka, I. G. Ivanov, F. Kaiser, J. Wrachtrup, and D. D. Awschalom, "Developing silicon carbide for quantum spintronics," Appl. Phys. Lett. **116**(19), 190501 (2020).
- ⁸⁸D. D. Awschalom, R. Hanson, J. Wrachtrup, and B. B. Zhou, "Quantum technologies with optically interfaced solid-state spins," Nat. Photonics 12(9), 516–527 (2018).
- ⁸⁹G. Wolfowicz, F. J. Heremans, C. P. Anderson, S. Kanai, H. Seo, A. Gali, G. Galli, and D. D. Awschalom, "Quantum guidelines for solid-state spin defects," Nat. Rev. Mater. 6, 906 (2021).
- ⁹⁰A. Gottscholl, M. Kianinia, V. Soltamov, S. Orlinskii, G. Mamin, C. Bradac, C. Kasper, K. Krambrock, A. Sperlich, M. Toth, I. Aharonovich, and V. Dyakonov, "Initialization and read-out of intrinsic spin defects in a van der Waals crystal at room temperature," Nat. Mater. 19(5), 540–545 (2020).
- ⁹¹H. L. Stern, J. Jarman, Q. Gu, S. E. Barker, N. Mendelson, D. Chugh, S. Schott, H. H. Tan, H. Sirringhaus, and I. Aharonovich, "Room-temperature optically detected magnetic resonance of single defects in hexagonal boron nitride," arXiv:2103.16494 (2021).
- ⁹² M. Kianinia, S. White, J. E. Fröch, C. Bradac, and I. Aharonovich, "Generation of spin defects in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 7(8), 2147–2152 (2020).
- ⁹³V. Ivády, G. Barcza, G. Thiering, S. Li, H. Hamdi, J.-P. Chou, Ö. Legeza, and A. Gali, "Ab initio theory of the negatively charged boron vacancy qubit in hexagonal boron nitride," npj Comput. Mater. 6(1), 41 (2020).
- ⁹⁴J. R. Reimers, J. Shen, M. Kianinia, C. Bradac, I. Aharonovich, M. J. Ford, and P. Piecuch, "Photoluminescence, photophysics, and photochemistry of the V_B⁻ defect in hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. B **102**(14), 144105 (2020).
- ⁹⁵A. Gottscholl, M. Diez, V. Soltamov, C. Kasper, A. Sperlich, M. Kianinia, C. Bradac, I. Aharonovich, and V. Dyakonov, "Room temperature coherent control of spin defects in hexagonal boron nitride," Sci. Adv. 7(14), eabf3630 (2021).

- ⁹⁶W. Liu, Z. Li, Y. Yang, S. Yu, Y. Meng, Z. Wang, N. Guo, F. Yan, Q. Li, and J. Wang, "Rabi oscillation of V_B⁻ spin in hexagonal boron nitride," arXiv:2101.11220 (2021).
- ⁹⁷A. Gottscholl, M. Diez, V. Soltamov, C. Kasper, D. Krauße, A. Sperlich, M. Kianinia, C. Bradac, I. Aharonovich, and V. Dyakonov, "Spin defects in hBN as promising temperature, pressure and magnetic field quantum sensors," Nat. Commun. 12(1), 4480 (2021).
- ⁹⁸W. Liu, Z.-P. Li, Y.-Z. Yang, S. Yu, Y. Meng, Z.-A. Wang, Z.-C. Li, N.-J. Guo, F.-F. Yan, Q. Li, J.-F. Wang, J.-S. Xu, Y.-T. Wang, J.-S. Tang, C.-F. Li, and G.-C. Guo, "Temperature-dependent energy-level shifts of spin defects in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 8(7), 1889–1895 (2021).
- ⁹⁹X. Gao, B. Jiang, A. E. Llacsahuanga Allcca, K. Shen, M. A. Sadi, A. B. Solanki, P. Ju, Z. Xu, P. Upadhyaya, Y. P. Chen, S. A. Bhave, and T. Li, "High-contrast plasmonic-enhanced shallow spin defects in hexagonal boron nitride for quantum sensing," Nano Lett. 21, 7708 (2021).
- ¹⁰⁰N. Chejanovsky, A. Mukherjee, J. Geng, Y.-C. Chen, Y. Kim, A. Denisenko, A. Finkler, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, D. B. R. Dasari, P. Auburger, A. Gali, J. H. Smet, and J. Wrachtrup, "Single-spin resonance in a van der Waals embedded paramagnetic defect," Nat. Mater. 20(8), 1079–1084 (2021).
- ¹⁰¹N. R. Jungwirth, B. Calderon, Y. Ji, M. G. Spencer, M. E. Flatt, and G. D. Fuchs, "Temperature dependence of wavelength selectable zero-phonon emission from single defects in hexagonal boron nitride," Nano Lett. 16(10), 6052–6057 (2016).
- 102 G. Noh, D. Choi, J.-H. Kim, D.-G. Im, Y.-H. Kim, H. Seo, and J. Lee, "Stark tuning of single-photon emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Nano Lett. 18(8), 4710–4715 (2018).
- ¹⁰³N. Nikolay, N. Mendelson, N. Sadzak, F. Böhm, T. T. Tran, B. Sontheimer, I. Aharonovich, and O. Benson, "Very large and reversible stark-shift tuning of single emitters in layered hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. Appl. 11(4), 041001 (2019).
- ¹⁰⁴Y. Xia, Q. Li, J. Kim, W. Bao, C. Gong, S. Yang, Y. Wang, and X. Zhang, "Room-temperature giant stark effect of single photon emitter in van der Waals material," Nano Lett. **19**(10), 7100–7105 (2019).
- ¹⁰⁵B. Sontheimer, M. Braun, N. Nikolay, N. Sadzak, I. Aharonovich, and O. Benson, "Photodynamics of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride revealed by low-temperature spectroscopy," Phys. Rev. B 96(12), 121202 (2017).
- ¹⁰⁶B. Spokoyny, H. Utzat, H. Moon, G. Grosso, D. Englund, and M. G. Bawendi, "Effect of spectral diffusion on the coherence properties of a single quantum emitter in hexagonal boron nitride," J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 11(4), 1330–1335 (2020).
- 107 H. Akbari, W.-H. Lin, B. Vest, P. K. Jha, and H. A. Atwater, "Temperaturedependent spectral emission of hexagonal boron nitride quantum emitters on conductive and dielectric substrates," Phys. Rev. Appl. 15(1), 014036 (2021).
- ¹⁰⁸X. Li, G. D. Shepard, A. Cupo, N. Camporeale, K. Shayan, Y. Luo, V. Meunier, and S. Strauf, "Nonmagnetic quantum emitters in boron nitride with ultranarrow and sideband-free emission spectra," ACS Nano 11(7), 6652–6660 (2017).
- ¹⁰⁹T. T. Tran, M. Kianinia, M. Nguyen, S. Kim, Z.-Q. Xu, A. Kubanek, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Resonant excitation of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 5(2), 295–300 (2018).
- ¹⁰K. Konthasinghe, C. Chakraborty, N. Mathur, L. Qiu, A. Mukherjee, G. D. Fuchs, and A. N. Vamivakas, "Rabi oscillations and resonance fluorescence from a single hexagonal boron nitride quantum emitter," Optica 6(5), 542–548 (2019).
- ^{III}S. White, C. Stewart, A. S. Solntsev, C. Li, M. Toth, M. Kianinia, and I. Aharonovich, "Phonon dephasing and spectral diffusion of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Optica 8(9), 1153–1158 (2021).
- ¹¹²S. J. U. White, N. M. H. Duong, A. S. Solntsev, J.-H. Kim, M. Kianinia, and I. Aharonovich, "Optical repumping of resonantly excited quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. Appl. 14(4), 044017 (2020).
- ¹¹³A. Dietrich, M. Bürk, E. S. Steiger, L. Antoniuk, T. T. Tran, M. Nguyen, I. Aharonovich, F. Jelezko, and A. Kubanek, "Observation of Fourier transform limited lines in hexagonal boron nitride," Phys. Rev. B **98**(8), 081414 (2018).
- ¹¹⁴ A. Dietrich, M. W. Doherty, I. Aharonovich, and A. Kubanek, "Solid-state single photon source with Fourier transform limited lines at room temperature," Phys. Rev. B 101(8), 081401 (2020).

- ¹¹⁵M. Hoese, P. Reddy, A. Dietrich, M. K. Koch, K. G. Fehler, M. W. Doherty, and A. Kubanek, "Mechanical decoupling of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride from low-energy phonon modes," Sci. Adv. 6(40), eaba6038 (2020).
- ¹¹⁶M. A. Feldman, C. E. Marvinney, A. A. Puretzky, and B. J. Lawrie, "Evidence of photochromism in a hexagonal boron nitride single-photon emitter," Optica 8(1), 1-5 (2021).
- ¹¹⁷A. Bommer and C. Becher, "New insights into nonclassical light emission from defects in multi-layer hexagonal boron nitride," <u>Nanophotonics</u> 8(11), 2041–2048 (2019).
- ¹¹⁸P. Khatri, A. J. Ramsay, R. N. E. Malein, H. M. H. Chong, and I. J. Luxmoore, "Optical gating of photoluminescence from color centers in hexagonal boron nitride," Nano Lett. 20(6), 4256–4263 (2020).
- ¹¹⁹M. K. Boll, I. P. Radko, A. Huck, and U. L. Andersen, "Photophysics of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron-nitride nano-flakes," Opt. Express 28(5), 7475–7487 (2020).
- ¹²⁰ M. Kianinia, C. Bradac, B. Sontheimer, F. Wang, T. T. Tran, M. Nguyen, S. Kim, Z.-Q. Xu, D. Jin, A. W. Schell, C. J. Lobo, I. Aharonovich, and M. Toth, "All-optical control and super-resolution imaging of quantum emitters in layered materials," Nat. Commun. 9(1), 874 (2018).
- ¹²¹R. N. E. Malein, P. Khatri, A. J. Ramsay, and I. J. Luxmoore, "Stimulated emission depletion spectroscopy of color centers in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 8(4), 1007–1012 (2021).
- ¹²²P. Khatri, R. N. Edward Malein, A. J. Ramsay, and I. J. Luxmoore, "Stimulated emission depletion microscopy with color centers in hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 8(7), 2081–2087 (2021).
- ¹²³S. J. U. White, F. Klauck, T. Trong Tran, N. Schmitt, M. Kianinia, A. Steinfurth, M. Heinrich, M. Toth, A. Szameit, I. Aharonovich, and A. S. Solntsev, "Quantum random number generation using a hexagonal boron nitride single photon emitter," J. Opt. 23(1), 01LT01 (2020).
- ¹²⁴S. Yu, Y.-N. Sun, W. Liu, Z.-D. Liu, Z.-J. Ke, Y.-T. Wang, J.-S. Tang, C.-F. Li, and G.-C. Guo, "Realization of a causal-modeled delayed-choice experiment using single photons," Phys. Rev. A 100(1), 012115 (2019).
- ¹²⁵J. Comtet, B. Grosjean, E. Glushkov, A. Avsar, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, R. Vuilleumier, M.-L. Bocquet, and A. Radenovic, "Direct observation of water-mediated single-proton transport between hBN surface defects," Nat. Nanotechnol. 15(7), 598–604 (2020).
- ¹²⁶A. Scavuzzo, S. Mangel, J.-H. Park, S. Lee, D. L. Duong, C. Strelow, A. Mews, M. Burghard, and K. Kern, "Electrically tunable quantum emitters in an ultrathin graphene-hexagonal boron nitride van der Waals heterostructure," Appl. Phys. Lett. **114**(6), 062104 (2019).
- ¹²⁷J. H. Kim, S. Aghaeimeibodi, J. Carolan, D. Englund, and E. Waks, "Hybrid integration methods for on-chip quantum photonics," Optica 7(4), 291–308 (2020).
- ¹²⁸ A. W. Elshaari, W. Pernice, K. Srinivasan, O. Benson, and V. Zwiller, "Hybrid integrated quantum photonic circuits," Nat. Photonics 14(5), 285–298 (2020).
- ¹²⁹T. Vogl, R. Lecamwasam, B. Buchler, Y. R. Lu, and P. K. Lam, "Compact cavity-enhanced single-photon generation with hexagonal boron nitride," ACS Photonics 6(8), 1955–1962 (2019).
- ¹³⁰J. E. Froch, S. Kim, N. Mendelson, M. Kianinia, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Coupling hexagonal boron nitride quantum emitters to photonic crystal cavities," ACS Nano 14(6), 7085–7091 (2020).
- ¹³¹N. Mendelson, R. Ritika, M. Kianinia, J. Scott, S. Kim, J. E. Fröch, C. Gazzana, M. Westerhausen, L. Xiao, S. Sepehr Mohajerani, S. Strauf, M. Toth, I. Aharonovich, and Z.-Q. Xu, "Coupling spin defects in a layered material to nanoscale plasmonic cavities," Adv. Mater. **2021**, 2106046.
- ¹³²J. E. Froch, L. P. Spencer, M. Kianinia, D. D. Totonjian, M. Nguyen, A. Gottscholl, V. Dyakonov, M. Toth, S. Kim, and I. Aharonovich, "Coupling spin defects in hexagonal boron nitride to monolithic bullseye cavities," Nano Lett. 21(15), 6549–6555 (2021).
- ¹³³L. T. Peng, H. Chan, P. Choo, T. W. Odom, S. Sankaranarayanan, and X. D. Ma, "Creation of single-photon emitters in WSe₂ monolayers using nanometer-sized gold tips," Nano Lett. 20(8), 5866–5872 (2020).
- ¹³⁴T. T. Tran, D. Q. Wang, Z. Q. Xu, A. K. Yang, M. Toth, T. W. Odom, and I. Aharonovich, "Deterministic coupling of quantum emitters in 2D materials to plasmonic nanocavity arrays," Nano Lett. 17(4), 2634–2639 (2017).
- plasmonic nanocavity arrays," Nano Lett. 17(4), 2634–2639 (2017).
 ¹³⁵H. Lee, I. Kim, C. Park, M. G. Kang, J. Choi, K. Y. Jeong, J. Mun, Y. Kim, J. Park, M. B. Raschke, H. G. Park, M. S. Jeong, J. Rho, and K. D. Park,

"Inducing and probing localized excitons in atomically thin semiconductors via tip-enhanced cavity-spectroscopy," Adv. Func. Mater. **31**(33), 2170243 (2021).

- ¹³⁶L. C. Flatten, I. Weng, A. Branny, S. Johnson, P. R. Dolan, A. A. P. Trichet, B. D. Gerardot, and J. M. Smith, "Microcavity enhanced single photon emission from two-dimensional WSe₂," Appl. Phys. Lett. **112**(19), 191105 (2018).
- ¹³⁷N. V. Proscia, H. Jayakumar, X. C. Ge, G. Lopez-Morales, Z. Shotan, W. D. Zhou, C. A. Meriles, and V. M. Menon, "Microcavity-coupled emitters in hexagonal boron nitride," Nanophotonics 9(9), 2937–2944 (2020).
- ¹³⁸M. Nguyen, S. Kim, T. T. Tran, Z. Q. Xu, M. Kianinia, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Nanoassembly of quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride and gold nanospheres," Nanoscale 10(5), 2267–2274 (2018).
- ¹³⁹J. E. Fröch, C. Li, Y. Chen, M. Toth, M. Kianinia, S. Kim, and I. Aharonovich, "Purcell enhancement of a cavity-coupled emitter in hexagonal boron nitride," Small 2021, 2104805.
- ¹⁴⁰O. Iff, Q. Buchinger, M. Moczala-Dusanowska, M. Kamp, S. Betzold, M. Davanco, K. Srinivasan, S. Tongay, C. Anton-Solanas, S. Hofling, and C. Schneider, "Purcell-enhanced single photon source based on a deterministically placed WSe₂ monolayer quantum dot in a circular Bragg grating cavity," Nano Lett. **21**(11), 4715–4720 (2021).
- ¹⁴¹T. Cai, J. H. Kim, Z. L. Yang, S. Dutta, S. Aghaeimeibodi, and E. Waks, "Radiative enhancement of single quantum emitters in WSe₂ monolayers using sitecontrolled metallic nanopillars," ACS Photonics 5(9), 3466–3471 (2018).
- ¹⁴²L. N. Tripathi, O. Iff, S. Betzold, L. Dusanowski, M. Emmerling, K. Moon, Y. J. Lee, S. H. Kwon, S. Hofling, and C. Schneider, "Spontaneous emission enhancement in strain-induced WSe₂ monolayer-based quantum light sources on metallic surfaces," ACS Photonics 5(5), 1919–1926 (2018).
- ¹⁴³S. Haeussler, G. Bayer, R. Waltrich, N. Mendelson, C. Li, D. Hunger, I. Aharonovich, and A. Kubanek, "Tunable fiber-cavity enhanced photon emission from defect centers in hBN," Adv. Opt. Mater. 9(17), 2002218 (2021).
- ¹⁴⁴S. Dufferwiel, S. Schwarz, F. Withers, A. A. P. Trichet, F. Li, M. Sich, O. Del Pozo-Zamudio, C. Clark, A. Nalitov, D. D. Solnyshkov, G. Malpuech, K. S. Novoselov, J. M. Smith, M. S. Skolnick, D. N. Krizhanovskii, and A. I. Tartakovskii, "Exciton-polaritons in van der Waals heterostructures embedded in tunable microcavities," Nat. Commun. **6**, 8579 (2015).
- ¹⁴⁵M. Sidler, P. Back, O. Cotlet, A. Srivastava, T. Fink, M. Kroner, E. Demler, and A. Imamoglu, "Fermi polaron-polaritons in charge-tunable atomically thin semiconductors," Nat. Phys. 13(3), 255 (2017).
- ¹⁴⁶X. Z. Liu, T. Galfsky, Z. Sun, F. N. Xia, E. C. Lin, Y. H. Lee, S. Kena-Cohen, and V. M. Menon, "Strong light-matter coupling in two-dimensional atomic crystals," Nat. Photonics 9(1), 30–34 (2015).
- ¹⁴⁷T. Cai, S. Dutta, S. Aghaeimeibodi, Z. Yang, S. Nah, J. T. Fourkas, and E. Waks, "Coupling emission from single localized defects in two-dimensional semiconductor to surface plasmon polaritons," Nano Lett. 17(11), 6564–6568 (2017).
- ¹⁴⁸N. V. Proscia, R. J. Collison, C. A. Meriles, and V. M. Menon, "Coupling of deterministically activated quantum emitters in hexagonal boron nitride to plasmonic surface lattice resonances," Nanophotonics 8(11), 2057–2064 (2019).
- ¹⁴⁹M. Blauth, M. Jurgensen, G. Vest, O. Hartwig, M. Prechtl, J. Cerne, J. J. Finley, and M. Kaniber, "Coupling single photons from discrete quantum emitters in WSe₂ to lithographically defined plasmonic slot waveguides," Nano Lett. 18(11), 6812–6819 (2018).
- 150F. Peyskens, C. Chakraborty, M. Muneeb, D. Van Thourhout, and D. Englund, "Integration of single photon emitters in 2D layered materials with a silicon nitride photonic chip," Nat. Commun. 10, 4435 (2019).

- ¹⁵¹C. Errando-Herranz, E. Scholl, R. Picard, M. Laini, S. Gyger, A. W. Elshaari, A. Branny, U. Wennberg, S. Barbat, T. Renaud, M. Sartison, M. Brotons-Gisbert, C. Bonato, B. D. Gerardot, V. Zwiller, and K. D. Jons, "Resonance fluorescence from waveguide-coupled, strain-localized, two-dimensional quantum emitters," ACS Photonics 8(4), 1069–1076 (2021).
- ¹⁵²D. White, A. Branny, R. J. Chapman, R. Picard, M. Brotons-Gisbert, A. Boes, A. Peruzzo, C. Bonato, and B. D. Gerardot, "Atomically-thin quantum dots integrated with lithium niobate photonic chips Invited," Opt. Mater. Express 9(2), 441–448 (2019).
- ¹⁵³S. Kim, N. M. H. Duong, M. Nguyen, T. J. Lu, M. Kianinia, N. Mendelson, A. Solntsev, C. Bradac, D. R. Englund, and I. Aharonovich, "Integrated on chip platform with quantum emitters in layered materials," Adv. Opt. Mater. 7(23), 1901132 (2019).
- ¹⁵⁴O. Iff, N. Lundt, S. Betzold, L. N. Tripathi, M. Emmerling, S. Tongay, Y. J. Lee, S. H. Kwon, S. Hofling, and C. Schneider, "Deterministic coupling of quantum emitters in WSe₂ monolayers to plasmonic nanocavities," Opt. Express 26(20), 25944–25951 (2018).
- ¹⁵⁵T. K. Fryett, Y. Y. Chen, J. Whitehead, Z. M. Peycke, X. D. Xu, and A. Majumdar, "Encapsulated silicon nitride nanobeam cavity for hybrid nano-photonics," ACS Photonics 5(6), 2176 (2018).
- 156S. F. Wu, S. Buckley, A. M. Jones, J. S. Ross, N. J. Ghimire, J. Q. Yan, D. G. Mandrus, W. Yao, F. Hatami, J. Vuckovic, A. Majumdar, and X. D. Xu, "Control of two-dimensional excitonic light emission via photonic crystal," 2D Mater. 1(1), 011001 (2014).
- ¹⁵⁷X. T. Gan, Y. D. Gao, K. F. Mak, X. W. Yao, R. J. Shiue, A. van der Zande, M. E. Trusheim, F. Hatami, T. F. Heinz, J. Hone, and D. Englund, "Controlling the spontaneous emission rate of monolayer MoS₂ in a photonic crystal nano-cavity," Appl. Phys. Lett. **103**(18), 181119 (2013).
- ¹⁵⁸S. F. Wu, S. Buckley, J. R. Schaibley, L. F. Feng, J. Q. Yan, D. G. Mandrus, F. Hatami, W. Yao, J. Vuckovic, A. Majumdar, and X. D. Xu, "Monolayer semiconductor nanocavity lasers with ultralow thresholds," Nature 520(7545), 69 (2015).
- ¹⁵⁹Y. Z. Li, J. X. Zhang, D. D. Huang, H. Sun, F. Fan, J. B. Feng, Z. Wang, and C. Z. Ning, "Room-temperature continuous-wave lasing from monolayer molybdenum ditelluride integrated with a silicon nanobeam cavity," Nat. Nanotechnol. 12(10), 987–992 (2017).
- ¹⁶⁰C. Li, J. E. Fröch, M. Nonahal, T. N. Tran, M. Toth, S. Kim, and I. Aharonovich, "Integration of hBN quantum emitters in monolithically fabricated waveguides," ACS Photonics 8, 2966 (2021).
- ¹⁶¹S. Kim, J. E. Froch, J. Christian, M. Straw, J. Bishop, D. Totonjian, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, M. Toth, and I. Aharonovich, "Photonic crystal cavities from hexagonal boron nitride," Nat. Commun. 9, 2623 (2018).
- ¹⁶²L. Sortino, P. G. Zotev, S. Mignuzzi, J. Cambiasso, D. Schmidt, A. Genco, M. Assmann, M. Bayer, S. A. Maier, R. Sapienza, and A. I. Tartakovskii, "Enhanced light-matter interaction in an atomically thin semiconductor coupled with dielectric nano-antennas," Nat. Commun. **10**, 5119 (2019).
- 163 R. Verre, D. G. Baranov, B. Munkhbat, J. Cuadra, M. Kall, and T. Shegai, "Transition metal dichalcogenide nanodisks as high-index dielectric Mie nanoresonators," Nat. Nanotechnol. 14(7), 679 (2019).
- ¹⁶⁴L. Sortino, P. G. Zotev, C. L. Phillips, A. J. Brash, J. Cambiasso, E. Marensi, A. M. Fox, S. A. Maier, R. Sapienza, and A. I. Tartakovskii, "Bright single photon emitters with enhanced quantum efficiency in a two-dimensional semiconductor coupled with dielectric nano-antennas," Nat. Commun. 12(1), 6063 (2021).
- ¹⁶⁵Y. Ye, Z. J. Wong, X. F. Lu, X. J. Ni, H. Y. Zhu, X. H. Chen, Y. Wang, and X. Zhang, "Monolayer excitonic laser," Nat. Photonics 9(11), 733–737 (2015).